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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Erick Sims asks this Court to accept review of the 

Court of Appeals decision terminating review 

designated in part B of this petition. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), petitioner seeks review 

of the unpublished Court of Appeals decision in State v. 

Erick Ladale Sims, No. 83376-6-1 (July 31, 2023). A 

copy of the decision is in the Appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. A trial court sitting as the fact-finder is bound by 

reason and the law and must explain its decisions. 

Accordingly, the verdict on one count must be 

consistent with the verdicts on the other counts. A 

guilty verdict that cannot be reconciled with the 

findings supporting a not-guilty verdict is reversible 

error. Here, the trial court's guilty verdict of second-
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degree assault is irreconcilable with its not-guilty 

verdicts on the other counts. Does an issue of first 

impression arise regarding inconsistent verdicts by a 

trial court acting as the trier of fact requiring this 

Court to grant review and reverse Mr. Sims' 

conviction? 

2. To uphold a conviction, the evidence must permit 

a reasonable fact-finder to find the prosecution proved 

all elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Here, the evidence does not permit an inference Mr. 

Sims committed second-degree assault. Is an issue 

arising under the United States and Washington 

Constitutions presented where the State failed to prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Sims was guilty of 

second degree assault requiring this Court to accept 

review and reverse Mr. Sims' conviction? 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Turner and Ms. Dixon made plans to go to 

Ms. Schmidt's place on May 2 after they got off work at 

2 am. 9/20 RP 223-24, 375-76. Mr. Turner asked Mr. 

Sims for a ride. 9/20 RP 224; 10/13 RP 2017. 

Ms. Schmidt had already drunk "half a bottle of 

wine" when they arrived. 9/20 RP 299, 377. Mr. Turner 

asked Mr. Sims if he had cocaine. 10/13 RP 2023. Mr. 

Sims pulled out a baggie and made "lines" for everyone. 

9/20 RP 226-28; 10/13 RP 2024. Ms. Dixon saw Ms. 

Schmidt snort cocaine through a straw. 9/20 RP 379. 

About an hour later, Ms. Schmidt suggested they 

get more alcohol. 10/13 RP 2024. The others pointed 

out it was 3:30 am, and alcohol was no longer being 

sold. 10/13 RP 2024. She suggested they "steal it." 

10/13 RP 2024. At 3:26 am, she texted, "We need to 

steal wine meow." Ex. 88 at 10. Though Mr. Sims did 
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not intend to steal anything, he agreed to drive Ms. 

Schmidt to the store. 10/13 RP 2025. 

Ms. Schmidt instead directed Mr. Sims to the 

shore of Lake Washington. 10/13 RP 2025-26. She took 

some cocaine from her pocket and she and Mr. Sims 

snorted it from her hand. 10/13 RP 2026, 2101-02. 

Ms. Schmidt then stripped off her clothes and 

jumped into the water. 10/4 RP 1172; 10/13 RP 2027. 

Mr. Sims took off his clothes too. 10/13 RP 2028. The 

water was so cold he could only wade in up to his 

knees. 10/13 RP 2028. He swam as fast as he could to a 

floating dock to get out of the water. 10/13 RP 2028. 

Ms. Schmidt climbed onto the dock too, without 

using the ladder. 10/13 RP 2029. She sat in Mr. Sims's 

lap, kissed him, and asked him to run away with her. 

10/4 RP 1179; 10/13 RP 2030. Mr. Sims refused and 
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pointed out he has a family. 10/13 RP 2031. Ms. 

Schmidt jumped back into the water. 10/13 RP 2031. 

Mr. Sims reentered the water and headed back to 

the shore. 10/13 RP 2031. He did his best to dry himself 

and Ms. Schmidt with his T-shirt and underwear. 

10/13 RP 2031-32. 

When Ms. Schmidt and Mr. Sims returned, Ms. 

Dixon and Mr. Turner noticed Ms. Schmidt's hair was 

wet and her clothes were damp. 9/20 RP 237, 381. Ms. 

Schmidt said they "went skinny dipping" and "jumped 

into Lake Washington."  9/20 RP 236, 308, 381; 9/22 RP 

431; 10/13 RP 2035. Ms. Schmidt changed into 

sweatpants and a tank top. 9/20 RP 237, 309-10, 381. 

They continued to drink alcohol and use cocaine. 9/20 

RP 237; 10/13 RP 2037-38. 

Mr. Sims returned to Ms. Schmidt's place after 

Mr. Turner and Ms. Dixon left to learn who her cocaine 
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source was. 10/4 RP 1182; 10/13 RP 2042. At 6:59 and 

7:00, he texted her, "Hello" and "I'm looking for some 

sauce. " Ex. 88 at 10. 

Mr. Sims knocked on the door and Ms. Schmidt's 

window, but she did not respond. 9/20 RP 256; 10/13 

RP 2042-43. He called, but she did not answer. 10/13 

RP 2042-43. Mr. Sims left. 9/20 RP 256; 10/13 RP 

2043. He went to Home Depot for supplies and may 

have stopped at home first. 10/13 RP 2045-46. 

Ms. Schmidt texted Mr. Turner at 7:10, "Your boy 

is here what's the best way to get rid of him?" 9/20 RP 

242; Ex. 88 at 10. Mr. Turner advised her to "[t]ell him 

ur going to sleep. " 9/20 RP 242; Ex. 88 at 10. He asked 

if she wanted him to return. Ex. 88 at 9-10. Ms. 

Schmidt told him over the phone, "I'm a big girl. I can 

handle myself. " 9/20 RP 244. She said Mr. Sims either 

left or was about to leave. 9/20 RP 328, 358. 
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Ms. Dixon also spoke to Ms. Schmidt. 9/20 RP 

394-95. Neither Mr. Turner nor Ms. Dixon heard Mr. 

Sims's voice through the phone. 9/20 RP 245, 396. 

Before 7 am, Ms. Schmidt called Mr. Smith 

multiple times. 10/4 RP 1238; 10/6 RP 1523. He was 

asleep and did not answer. 10/4 RP 1222. Apparently 

annoyed, she texted at 6:58, "Wtf? Lol tell the hooker 

from last night, that there's cab fare on the table." 10/6 

RP 1515; Ex. 72 at 16. He responded at 7:57, "Get some 

sleep." Ex. 72 at 16. Ms. Schmidt's phone indicated this 

message was read at s:04 am. 10/6 RP 1519. 

Mr. Marshall went downstairs to tell Ms. Schmidt 

the news. 9/16 RP 169. Through the open bedroom 

door, he saw Ms. Schmidt lying on her back on the 

floor. 9/16 RP 169. Her skin was cool. 9/16 RP 170. Mr. 

Marshall called 911. 9/16 RP 171. 

7 



First responders arrived at 11 am. 9/27 RP 726. 

Ms. Schmidt was on the floor wearing only a bra. 9/23 

RP 609. Her underwear and sweatpants were on the 

bed. 9/23 RP 638, 643. She had vomit on her face. 9/27 

RP 766. She could not be revived. 9/27 RP 729. 

Brian Mazrim, MD, of the King County Medical 

Examiner's Office went to Ms. Schmidt's residence. 

9/27 RP 744, 753. Based on the temperature of her 

body, Dr. Mazrim estimated the time of death as "9.00 

a.m., give or take a couple hours." 9/27 RP 758. Based 

on rigor mortis, he surmised she had been dead "at 

least half an hour, maybe an hour. " 9/27 RP 759. 

Dr. Mazrim performed an autopsy on May 4. 9/27 

RP 769; Ex. 41 at 2. He found symmetrical bruises on 

Ms. Schmidt's hips, and bruises and abrasions on her 

knees and the tops of her feet. 9/27 RP 767; Ex. 41 at 3. 

There were "very small" abrasions at the corners of her 
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mouth, a quarter-inch bruise inside her lower lip, and a 

quarter-inch cut on her right pinky. 9/27 RP 764-65, 

771; Ex. 41 at 3. Dr. Mazrim also found a small bruise 

under the scalp and hemorrhages in the throat. 9/27 

RP 764, 772-73; Ex. 41 at 4. 

Based on a microscopic examination, Dr. Mazrim 

found Ms. Schmidt obtained the bruises on her lower 

extremities within an hour of death. 9/27 RP 768, 770. 

He did not examine the other injuries microscopically. 

9/27 RP 768. He could place the scalp and neck injuries 

only "within a day or two of her death." 9/27 RP 772. 

Toxicology tests detected cocaine, Sertraline, and 

a sleep aid drug in Ms. Schmidt's blood and stomach 

contents. 9/27 RP 754, 779-80, 782-83. The amounts of 

Sertraline and cocaine were both potentially lethal. 

9/27 RP 78L 9/30 RP 1026-27; 10/12 RP 1886-87. Ms. 

Schmidt's blood alcohol content was 0.17. 9/27 RP 780. 
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Dr. Mazrim and his team took clippings from Ms. 

Schmidt's fingernails and swabs from various parts of 

her body and sent them for testing. 9/27 RP 788-90. 

Dr. Mazrim ruled the cause of Ms. Schmidt's 

death "undetermined'' because the autopsy findings did 

not allow him to choose between "two competing 

diagnoses. " 9/27 RP 754, 787; Ex. 41 at 1. First, though 

the injuries were not fatal, they suggested asphyxia as 

a possible cause. 9/27 RP 754; 9/29 RP 874; 10/12 RP 

1882. Second, the "high levels" of drugs in Ms. 

Schmidt's system suggested an overdose. 9/27 RP 754. 

The bruises on Ms. Schmidt's hips and legs led 

Dr. Mazrim to consider asphyxia. 9/27 RP 755. A 

possible explanation was that a person pressed on her 

backside as she lay face down on a hard surface. 9/27 

RP 755, 767. Dr. Mazrim also considered the injuries to 
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Ms. Schmidt's mouth and lip and the evidence Mr. 

Sims returned to the apartment. 9/27 RP 755-56. 

The chief medical examiner, Dr. Richard Harruff, 

concurred with Dr. Mazrim's opinion. 9/29 RP 859; 

10/12 RP 1874, 1904. 

On May 2, 2015, Mr. Turner told Mr. Sims that 

Ms. Schmidt was found dead. 9/20 RP 249-50; 10/13 

RP 2046-47. Mr. Sims met Mr. Turner and Ms. Dixon 

at the police station, where all three gave statements. 

9/20 RP 251-52; 10/13 RP 2049-50. Mr. Turner and 

Ms. Dixon brought Mr. Smith's pickup and left it with 

the police. 9/20 RP 398. 

At Detective Cooper's request, Mr. Sims provided 

a sample of his DNA. 10/5 RP 1385. 

When police first arrived on May 2, Mr. Arrahim 

told them he heard Ms. Schmidt on the stairs at 9:30. 

10/6 RP 1447-48, 1450. Detective Cooper did not think 
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Mr. Arrahim's account was "good enough evidence" and 

did not interview Mr. Arrahim. 10/6 RP 1448, 1450. 

Kari O'Neill, a forensic scientist, tested the 

samples Dr. Mazrim took from Ms. Schmidt. 9/29 RP 

910. She found amylase, a digestive enzyme in saliva 

and other fluids, in the swabs from the neck, left and 

right wrists, left and right nail clippings, and vagina. 

9/29 RP 912-13, 918, 928, 929-31, 939, 959; Ex. 99. 

In swabs from Ms. Schmidt's neck and right 

hand, Ms. O'Neill found DNA from three people. 9/29 

RP 919-20, 929, 938, 940, 944; Ex. 99. She identified 

two as Ms. Schmidt and Mr. Sims. 9/29 RP 920, 925; 

Ex. 100. The DNA quantity was too low to identify the 

third person. 9/29 RP 920; Ex. 99. 

After the lab results came in, Detective Cooper 

believed there was insufficient evidence to continue the 

investigation. 10/5 RP 1396. 
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Nevertheless, the prosecution charged Mr. Sims 

with two counts: second-degree felony murder based on 

a predicate felony of second-degree assault, and second­

degree rape. CP 1, 9-10. 

Mr. Sims waived his right to trial by jury. CP 

160. The prosecution's theory was that Mr. Sims 

assaulted Ms. Schmidt by shoving large amounts of 

cocaine, Sertraline, and sleep aid pills into her mouth 

and forcing her to swallow them. 10/18 RP 2220. It 

argued he held her down on the floor and tried to rape 

her anally. 10/18 RP 2220-21. Because the lab found 

p30 but no sperm, it argued only a vasectomized man 

like Mr. Sims could be responsible. 10/18 RP 2221. 

The prosecution asked the court to consider 

attempted second-degree rape as a lesser included 

offense. 10/18 RP 2246. The court also indicated it 
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would consider second-degree assault as a lesser 

included offense of murder. 10/18 RP 2248. 

The trial court found Mr. Sims not guilty of 

second-degree rape and attempted rape. 10/21 RP 527; 

CP 216 CL 10, 12. It found a reasonable doubt about 

whether Mr. Sims and Ms. Schmidt had intercourse 

and, even if they did, whether any intercourse was 

consensual. CP 200 FF 17, 205 FF 32-33, 216 CL 9. 

Notably, the court reasoned that all the forensic 

evidence the prosecution cited had alternate, innocent 

explanations. CP 201-03 FF 19-25, 204 FF 29-30. 

The trial court also found Mr. Sims not guilty of 

second-degree murder, reasoning the evidence 

suggested Ms. Schmidt may have intentionally 

overdosed. 10/21 RP 524; CP 209-12 FF 41-44, CP 214 

CL 1-2. The court noted that Ms. Schmidt's recent 

treatment for depression and the uncertainty in her 
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relationship with Mr. Smith supported an inference of 

suicide. CP 203 FF 26, 209-12 FF 41-44. It rejected 

the prosecution's theory that Mr. Sims forced Ms. 

Schmidt to swallow large amounts of three different 

drugs simultaneously. CP 212-13 FF 45-46, 215 CL 7. 

The court also noted deficiencies in the police 

investigation as a basis for reasonable doubt. CP 207-

09 FF 38, 40. 

However, the trial court convicted Mr. Sims of 

second-degree assault. 10/21 RP 526-27; CP 197 FF 5, 

214-15 CL 4-6, 216 CL 8. Despite finding reasonable 

doubt regarding the prosecution's interpretation of the 

forensic evidence as to the rape count, it found the 

same evidence showed beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Mr. Sims assaulted Ms. Schmidt. CP 199 FF 12. 

Ms. Sims moved to arrest the judgment. CP 454. 

His attorney argued the trial court's reasons to doubt 
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the prosecution's interpretation of the forensic evidence 

also created reasonable doubt as to second-degree 

assault, making the conviction "unjust." 11/5 RP 548. 

The trial court denied the motion. 11/5 RP 550. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed, ruling there was 

sufficient evidence to support the second degree assault 

conviction and that the trial court's conclusions were 

not inconsistent verdicts. 

E. ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 

GRANTED 

1. The trial court erred by entering 

inconsistent guilty and not-guilty verdicts 

following a bench trial. 

The verdicts on two or more counts are 

inconsistent if they rest on irreconcilable "factual and 

legal conclusions." Inconsistency of Criminal Verdict as 

Between Different Counts of Indictment or 

Information, 18 A.L.R.3d 259, § l[a]. For example, a 
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conviction on one count may be inconsistent with an 

acquittal on another, related count. State v. Ng, 110 

Wn.2d 32, 47-48, 750 P.2d 632 (1988). Fact-finders 

may reach "inconsistent verdicts for various reasons, 

including mistake, compromise, and lenity. " State v. 

Goins, 151 Wn.2d 728, 733, 92 P.3d 181 (2004). 

In jury trials, inconsistent verdicts are generally 

permissible. Ng, 110 Wn.2d at 48. English common law 

adopted juries as the "voice of the country" to check the 

"zeal of prosecutors." United States v. Maybury, 27 4 

F.2d 899, 903 (2d Cir. 1960). Accordingly, juries hold 

"the unreviewable power . . .  to return a verdict of not 

guilty for impermissible reasons." Ng, 110 Wn.2d at 48, 

quoting United States v. Powell, 469 U.S. 57, 63, 105 S. 

Ct. 471, 83 L. Ed. 2d 461 (1984). Jury decision-making 

is opaque, and there is no way to know "which was the 
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verdict that the jury 'really meant."' Goins, 151 Wn.2d 

at 733, quoting Powell, 469 U.S. at 68. 

Whether the trial court may return inconsistent 

verdicts in a bench trial is a separate question, and one 

of first impression in Washington. 

Courts in other jurisdictions conclude the reasons 

for accepting a jury's inconsistent verdicts do not apply 

to the trial court. Maybury, 274 F.2d at 903; Shell v. 

State, 307 Md. 46, 57-58, 512 A. 2d 358 (1986), 

overruled on other grounds, Price v. State, 405 Md. 10, 

949 A.2d 619 (2008). These courts hold irreconcilable 

verdicts of guilty and not guilty after a bench trial 

require reversal. Akers v. Commonwealth, 31 Va. App. 

521, 530, 525 S.E. 2d 13 (2000); People v. Williams, 99 

Mich. App. 463, 463, 297 N.W.2d 702 (1980). 

Unlike a jury, "[a] trial court is bound by 

fundamental principles of logic and has a duty to 
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explain its decisions. " State v. Meyer, 17 Kan. App. 2d 

59, 70, 832 P.2d 357 (1992). Judges must follow the 

law-they may not resolve inconsistencies in their 

findings by resort to a compromise verdict. Maybury, 

27 4 F.2d at 903. As for "lenity," the only appropriate 

time for a trial court to express it is at sentencing. Id. 

These principles apply with no less force in 

Washington. When the trial court sits as the fact­

finder, it must explain its verdicts by entering 

"findings of fact and conclusions of law." CrR 6.l(d). It 

must rest its findings on substantial evidence, and the 

findings must support the legal conclusions. State v. 

A.M, 163 Wn. App. 414, 419, 260 P.3d 229 (2011). 

Permitting trial courts to enter inconsistent 

verdicts is not only error, but it would erode public 

confidence in the criminal legal system. Maybury, 27 4 

F.2d at 903. "A rule which would permit judgments 
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which cannot be defended upon a logical basis would 

not enhance respect for the law, the courts, or the 

process. " Meyer, 17 Kan App. 2d at 70. "It would make 

utterly no sense" for a trial court to instruct the jury it 

must follow the law in one case yet ignore that 

instruction in another. Shell, 307 Md. at 57. 

Some courts permit inconsistent bench verdicts 

where the trial court explains the inconsistency. E. g. ,  

Cleveland v. Commonwealth, 38 Va. App. 199, 204-05, 

562 S.E.2d 696 (2002); Haynesworth v. United States, 

473 A.2d 366, 371 (D.C. Ct. App. 1984). 

Other courts take no issue with inconsistent 

bench verdicts, reasoning trial courts may express 

leniency in their verdicts in the same manner as juries. 

E. g. ,  People v. McCoy, 207 Ill. 2d 352, 358, 799 N.E.2d 

269 (2003); State v. Garza, 196 Ariz. 210, 212, 994 P.2d 
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1025 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1999); United States v. Wright, 63 

F.3d 1067, 1073-74 (11th Cir. 1995). 

This reasoning, however, ignores the trial court's 

duty to adhere to the law and logic and to explain the 

reasons for its verdicts. Meyer, 17 Kan. App. 2d at 70; 

People v. Vaughn, 409 Mich. 463, 466, 295 N.W. 2d 354 

(1980). These courts also overlook the jury's unique 

role as the "voice of the country'' and a check on 

executive power. Maybury, 27 4 F.2d at 903. The many 

differences between juries and trial courts as fact­

finders call for treating them differently, not the same. 

The trial court's findings that Mr. Sims assaulted 

Ms. Schmidt and caused substantial bodily harm are 

irreconcilable with the findings underlying his 

acquittal of second-degree rape. Contrary to the Court 

of Appeals conclusion, the verdicts are inconsistent. 

Meyer, 17 Kan. App. 2d at 70-71. 
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This Court should grant review and hold that 

entering inconsistent verdicts after a bench trial is 

reversible error. 

2. The prosecution did not prove Mr. Sims 
guilty of second-degree assault beyond a 
reasonable doubt. 

The State is required to prove each element of the 

crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. 

amend XIV; Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 

471, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); In re 

Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 

368 (1970). The standard the reviewing court uses in 

analyzing a claim of insufficiency of the evidence is 

"[w]hether, after viewing the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact 

could have found the essential elements of the crime 

beyond a reasonable doubt. " Jackson v. Virginia, 443 

U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). 
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To convict Mr. Sims of second-degree assault, as 

relevant here, the prosecution had to prove he (1) 

assaulted Ms. Schmidt, thereby (2) recklessly inflicting 

(3) substantial bodily harm on her. RCW 

9A.36.02l(l)(a). 

An assault is a touching that "was neither legally 

consented to nor otherwise privileged, and was either 

harmful or offensive." State v. Thomas, 98 Wn. App. 

422, 424, 989 P.2d 612 (1999), quoting State v. Garcia, 

20 Wn. App. 401, 403, 579 P.2d 1034 (1978). A 

consensual touching is not an assault. Id. 

The only evidence to suggest Mr. Sims caused 

any of Ms. Schmidt's injuries is the presence of his 

DNA on her neck and right hand and wrist. Exs. 99, 

100. But his DNA shows only that he touched her 

during the evening, or that she touched him-say, 

when she hugged him goodbye, when he inhaled 
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cocaine from her hand, or when she sat on his lap and 

kissed him on the dock. 10/13 RP 1984, 2030, 2101-02. 

The mere presence of his DNA does not permit an 

inference any touching was harmful or offensive. 

Besides, if Mr. Sims held Ms. Schmidt down and 

she fought back, his DNA would be found on both 

wrists and the fingernails of both hands, not just on 

the right side. 9/29 RP 944; CP 195. That Ms. O'Neill 

did not find Mr. Sims's blood on the clippings also 

refutes any inference Ms. Schmidt clawed at Mr. Sims 

in defense. 9/29 RP 936-37. 

The only way to reach a guilty verdict on this 

evidence is to fill the gaps with baseless assumptions. 

Mr. Sims returned to Ms. Schmidt's residence around 7 

am after Mr. Turner and Ms. Dixon left. 10/13 RP 

2041-42. Ms. Schmidt's text message to Mr. Turner at 

7:10 am that "Your boy is here" supports this inference. 
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10/6 RP 1516; Ex. 88 at 10. There is no evidence Mr. 

Sims went inside the residence rather than being 

rebuffed and leaving. 

The cell tower data likewise places Mr. Sims in 

the vicinity of Ms. Schmidt's apartment but cannot 

show he entered it. Mr. Sims's cell phone consistently 

pinged a single tower near the house until 8:14 am. 

10/7 RP 1646-47. At most, this data shows Mr. Sims 

was within the range of that tower at the time. 10/7 RP 

1615. No witness testified what that range is, but a 

defense expert opined it could be a mile and a half or 

more. 10/12 RP 1802. The cell tower data does not 

place Mr. Sims inside the apartment. 

The prosecution did not present sufficient 

evidence to find Mr. Sims assaulted Ms. Schmidt 

beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court's findings 

that Mr. Sims assaulted Ms. Schmidt lack substantial 
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evidence. CP 197 FF 5, 205 FF 32, 205-06 FF 34, 207 

FF 37, 215 CL 6, 216 CL 8. So does the trial court's 

finding that the presence of Mr. Sims's DNA indicated 

assault. CP 199 FF 12. 

Further, the prosecution did not prove Mr. Sims 

inflicted substantial bodily harm. An injury amounts to 

"substantial bodily harm" if it causes "a temporary but 

substantial disfigurement." RCW 9A.04.110 (4)(b). 1 

"Substantial" means "considerable in amount." State v. 

McKague, 172 Wn.2d 802, 806, 262 P.3d 1225 (2011), 

quoting Webster's Third New lnt'l Diet. 2280 (2002). 

A "cut lip" alone does not support a conviction of 

second-degree assault. Miles, 77 Wn.2d at 600-01. 

1 There is no evidence Ms. Schmidt's injuries included a 
"fracture" or caused "a temporary but substantial loss 
or impairment of the function of any bodily part or 
organ." See RCW 9A.04.110(4)(b). The cause of her 
death was asphyxia or drug overdose, not her injuries. 
9/27 RP 754-55; 9/29 RP 863; Ex. 41 at 1. 
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Where the prosecution relies on cuts and bruises, it 

must show the injuries in total amount to a substantial 

disfigurement. For example, "facial bruising and 

swelling lasting several days" and cuts to the face, 

head, and arm support a finding of substantial bodily 

harm. McKague, 172 Wn.2d at 806-07. 

Even if the prosecution's evidence allowed an 

inference Mr. Sims assaulted Ms. Schmidt to some 

degree, the prosecution did not prove he inflicted 

substantial bodily harm. The trial court relied on the 

sum of all Ms. Schmidt's "bruising and abrasions" to 

find this element satisfied. CP 214-15 CL 4. No 

reasonable person could infer an assault by Mr. Sims 

caused most of the injuries. Any remaining are too 

slight to be substantial. 

The most significant injuries were the bruises on 

Ms. Schmidt's hips, knees, and feet, which Dr. Mazrim 
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opined resulted from pressure on her backside as she 

lay face down on a hard surface. 9/27 RP 767. But there 

is no evidence Mr. Sims was the source of this 

pressure. And even if he did lay on top of her-say, 

during sexual activity- there is no evidence to suggest 

he did so without her consent. Supra, at 54-55. 

Because there is no evidence an assault by Mr. 

Sims caused Ms. Schmidt's bruising, it cannot support 

a finding that he caused substantial bodily harm. 

The only remaining injuries are the "very small 

abrasions" at the corners of Ms. Schmidt's mouth, the 

quarter-inch bruise inside her lip, and the quarter-inch 

cut on her right pinky. 9/27 RP 764-65, 771; Ex. 41 at 

3. There is no evidence to suggest these injuries 

resulted from an intentional assault rather than an 

accidental fall- say, after Ms. Schmidt overdosed on 

cocaine and her medications. Dr. Mazrim testified Ms. 
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Schmidt could have sustained the mouth and lip 

injuries by falling forward and striking her face on an 

object. 9/29 RP 885-86. 

And even if a reasonable person could infer these 

injuries resulted from an assault by Mr. Sims, they do 

not add up to "substantial disfigurement. " RCW 

9A.04.110(4)(b). The tiny abrasions on Ms. Schmidt's 

mouth, the minuscule bruise on her lip, and the 

superficial cut on her pinky are closer to the "cut" or 

"swollen lip" in Miles than to the extensive bruising 

and other injuries in McKague, Hovig, and Ashcraft. 

The prosecution did not prove an assault by Mr. 

Sims caused injuries amounting to substantial bodily 

harm. The trial court's finding that Ms. Schmidt's 

"bruising and abrasions" satisfied this element of 

second-degree assault lacks substantial evidence. CP 

214-15 CL 4, 215 CL 6. To the extent the trial court 
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included the sub-scalp bruise and neck injury in its 

finding that the "injuries were recent, " that finding 

also lacks substantial evidence. CP 215 CL 5. 

The prosecution did not prove Mr. Sims recklessly 

inflicted any injury. Mr. Sims "act[ed] recklessly" if he 

"kn[e]wD of and disregard[ed] a substantial risk that a 

wrongful act may occur," such that his conduct was "a 

gross deviation from conduct that a reasonable person 

would exercise. " RCW 9A.08.010(l)(c). The prosecution 

had to prove Mr. Sims knew his conduct risked causing 

the injury. State v. Melland, 9 Wn. App. 2d 786, 804, 

452 P.3d 562 (2019). The prosecution could meet this 

burden by showing a reasonable person in Mr. Sims's 

place would have this knowledge. Id. 

The mere fact that a person caused an injury does 

not support an inference that the person "knew of and 
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disregarded a substantial risk" the injury would occur. 

See Melland, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 804-05. 

Even if an assault by Mr. Sims caused the bruises 

on Ms. Schmidt's lower extremities, that fact alone 

does not permit an inference he ignored a risk those 

injuries would result. The prosecution's theory was 

that Mr. Sims lay on top of Ms. Schmidt as she lay face 

down. 10/18 RP 2220-21, 2224. Because Ms. Schmidt 

was "slender, " the floor would press her skin into "bony 

prominences" like her hips and knees, causing bruises. 

9/27 RP 767; 9/29 844. The absence of defensive 

injuries refutes any inference Mr. Sims aggressively 

held Ms. Schmidt down. CP 204 FF 30. 

The prosecution presented no evidence Mr. Sims 

knew of and disregarded a substantial risk that lying 

on top of Ms. Schmidt would cause the type of bruising 

that resulted. The trial court's finding that Mr. Sims 
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"recklessly" caused Ms. Schmidt substantial bodily 

harm lacks substantial evidence. CP 215 CL 6. 

This Court should grant review and rule Mr. 

Sims' conviction for second degree assault was not 

supported by sufficient evidence and reverse the 

conviction with instructions to dismiss. 
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F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, Mr. Sims asks this Court 

to grant review and reverse his second degree assault 

conviction. 

Counsel certifies this petition contains 

approximately 4619 words using Microsoft Word word 

counter and complies with RAP 18.17. 

DATED this 28th day of August 2023. 

Respectfully submitted, 

s/Thomas M Kummerow 

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW (WSBA 21518) 
tom@washapp.org 
wapofficemail@washapp.org 
Washington Appellate Project - 91052 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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No. 83376-6- 1  

D IVIS ION  O N E  

U N PU BL ISHED O P I N ION 

B I RK,  J .  - Erick S ims appeals a crim ina l  convict ion after a bench tria l .  S ims 

asserts the  evidence support ing h is  convict ion for assau lt is not constitutiona l ly 

sufficient , and h is convict ion for assau lt is i ncons istent with h is acqu itta l of rape.  

F i nd i ng no error, we affi rm . 

The State charged Erick S ims with rape in  the second deg ree and mu rder 

i n  the second deg ree of Devan Schm idt. Fol lowi ng a bench tria l , the court 

acqu itted S ims of rape and murder ,  but convicted h im of the lesser i ncl uded 

offence of second deg ree assau lt .  Among other arguments , S ims cha l lenges 

whether the evidence was sufficient to convict h im  of assau lt .  

Tria l  evidence showed that i n  the early hours of May 2, 20 1 5 ,  Schm idt 

i nvited Dom in ique D ixon and Kevin Tu rner to her home. D ixon and Turner asked 

S ims for a ride .  Schm idt d id not know S ims .  The th ree arrived at approximate ly 3 

a . m .  After some t ime,  Schm idt and S ims left. When they retu rned , Schmidt's ha i r  
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was wet, and she said they had jumped into Lake Washington. Dixon testified she 

did not see any injuries on Schmidt. At approximately 6:00 a .m . ,  one of Schmidt's 

roommates observed Schmidt to be uninjured.  

The guests departed shortly before 7:00 a .m.  Schmidt texted Dixon at 6:53 

a .m . ,  "Woman !  I couldn't get u alone but why were you trying to hook me up with 

your drug dealer? Loi trust me I have enough on my plate already." Schmidt tried 

to call her boyfriend several times between 6:54 a .m.  and 6:58 a .m .  At 6:59 a .m . ,  

Sims texted Schmidt, "Hel lo." At 7:00 a .m . ,  Sims texted Schmidt posing a request 

Sims testified was for drugs but a police officer testified referred to things of a 

sexual nature. Schmidt texted Turner, "Your boy is here what's the best way to 

get rid of him?" Turner responded , "Tell him ur going to sleep have a good night," 

"And you have a bf and u don't wanna fuck it up," and, "Do u need us to come 

back." At 7: 1 8  a .m . ,  Turner and Dixon spoke with Schmidt on the phone. During 

that conversation, Schmidt said ,  "[l]t's okay. I'm a big girl . I can handle myself." 

Sims's cell phone records show he remained near Schmidt's home from 

5:05 a .m.  to at least 8: 1 4  a .m.  At 8:39 a .m . ,  Sims's phone connected to a cell 

tower approximately six blocks to the north of the one it connected to while at 

Schmidt's home. Sims consistently admitted he returned after initially departing, 

but provided inconsistent accounts of his actions upon return ing. At trial ,  Sims 

claimed that when he initially departed he drove two or three blocks, then returned 

to Schmidt's house to ask her about her cocaine connection .  Sims claimed he 

knocked on the door, waited a few minutes, tapped on the window of her room ,  
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then returned to his truck to text and call Schmidt. Sims testified he waited in his 

car while he smoked a cigarette, and then got lost and drove in circles in Schmidt's 

neighborhood, near her home, for 1 5-20 minutes. The trial court found Sims's 

testimony that he got lost trying to leave the neighborhood was not credible. 

At approximately 1 0 :50 a .m . ,  a roommate found Schmidt deceased. Brian 

Mazrim, MD estimated Schmidt's time of death at roughly 9:00 a .m . ,  "give or take 

a couple hours." Based on the lividity on Schmidt's body and the stiffness of her 

jaw described by responding fire fighters, Schmidt had been dead for "at least half 

an hour, maybe an hour before the medics arrived." 

Dr.  Mazrim observed several injuries to Schmidt's body: a one inch diameter 

bruise to the left temple area which occurred within a day or two of death , two small 

abrasions to the face, an acute bruise on the inner aspect of the lower lip, which 

"would be up against her lower teeth," acute bruises over both hip bones caused 

by pressure strongly applied to those areas externally from a blunt object, a bruise 

over the pubic bone, acute bruises to both knees, acute bruises from blunt force 

injuries to the tops of both feet consistent with an individual prone on the floor, 

scrapes and bruises to the tops of the toes, a small cut on the right pinkie from 

within about an hour of death, and "Deep down in the neck at the top of what would 

be the Adam's apple or the voice box there was an area of acute hemorrhage." 

The last injury "can be seen when there is an external force applied to the neck. 

Typically a hand because . . .  the fingers . . .  reach in deep." 

3 
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The i nj u ries to Schmidt's face were caused by "someth i ng to the effect of a 

hand over the mouth and nose . . .  [o] r perhaps the face pressed i nto the floor or  

some other materia l . "  The bru is ing to Schm idt's h i ps ,  knees , and the tops of both 

feet suggest they were susta ined wh i le lyi ng face down on a hard surface . Dr .  

Mazrim deemed the cause of death undeterm i ned after identifyi ng as poss ib le 

causes intoxicat ion and asphyxia .  

Swabs were col lected from Schm idt's body and sent to the Wash i ngton 

State Patro l crime lab. Amylase , which is an enzyme usual ly associated with 

sal iva , was found on swabs from Schm idt's neck, rig ht wrist , left wrist , and vag ina l  

area.  Deoxyribonucle ic acid (DNA) profi les from the neck, rig ht fi ngerna i ls ,  and 

rig ht wrist were consistent with the comb ined profi le from Schm idt and S ims . 

When reviewing the suffic iency of the evidence ,  we ask whether, after 

viewing the evidence in  the l i ght most favorab le to the State , any rat ional  trier of 

fact cou ld have found the defendant gu i lty beyond a reasonable doubt. State v .  

Green ,  94  Wn .2d 2 1 6 ,  220 ,  6 1 6  P .2d 628  ( 1 980) . Relevant here ,  " [a] person i s  

gu i lty o f  assau lt i n  the second deg ree i f  he or she ,  under c i rcumstances not 

amounting to assau lt i n  the fi rst deg ree . . .  [ i ] ntentiona l ly assau lts another and 

thereby reckless ly i nfl i cts substant ia l  bod i ly harm . "  RCW 9A.36 . 02 1 ( 1 ) (a) . 

Wash ington recogn izes an un lawfu l touch ing as assau lt .  State v. E lm i ,  1 66 Wn .2d 

209 ,  2 1 5 ,  207 P . 3d 439 (2009) . "Whether sufficient evidence supports fi nd i ng a 

defendant acted recklessly 'depends on both what the defendant knew and how a 

reasonable person wou ld have acted knowing these facts . '  " State v. Mel land , 9 

4 
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Wn . App .  2d 786 , 804 ,  452 P . 3d 562 (20 1 9) ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) 

(quoti ng State v .  Graham , 1 53 Wn .2d 400 , 408 , 1 03 P . 3d 1 238 (2005)) . The trier 

of fact is "perm itted to fi nd actua l  subjective knowledge if there is sufficient 

i nformat ion which wou ld lead a reasonable person to bel ieve that a fact exists . "  

State v .  Johnson , 1 1 9 Wn .2d 1 67 ,  1 74 ,  829 P .2d  1 082 ( 1 992) (emphasis om itted) .  

The evidence a l lowed a rat ional  trier of fact to conclude S ims was present 

in Schm idt's home after others left ,  and that he had un lawfu l phys ical contact with 

Schm idt . This i ncl udes S ims's adm ission that he retu rned , text messages from 

Schm idt's phone ,  S ims's ce l l  phone records p laci ng h im i n  the vici n ity of Schm idt's 

home,  and the presence of S ims's DNA on Schm idt's body. In add it ion ,  the last 

people to see Schm idt a l ive , other than S ims ,  d id not observe any i nj u ries on 

Schm idt . 

The evidence also a l lowed a rat ional  trier of fact to fi nd Sims acted 

reckless ly. Dr .  Mazrim described the i nj u ries to Schm idt's face as consistent with 

a hand be ing held over her mouth and nose . Dr .  Mazrim described the acute 

hemorrhag ing i n  Schm idt's neck as consistent with externa l  force being app l ied to 

her neck. Dr .  Mazrim described the conste l lat ion of bru ises to Schmidt's h ips ,  

knees , and feet as consistent with her be i ng held to the g round with some force . 

A rationa l  trier of fact cou ld  conclude that these act ions wi l l  cause i nj u ry and are a 

g ross deviation from cond uct that a reasonable person wou ld exercise i n  the same 

situation . 

5 
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A rat ional  trier of fact cou ld fi nd the i nj u ries described by Dr .  Mazrim 

constitute substant ia l  bod i ly harm .  Bru is ing can b e  sufficient to estab l ish 

substant ia l  bod i ly harm . State v .  Hovig , 1 49 Wn . App .  1 ,  1 3 , 202 P . 3d 3 1 8 (2009) 

(substantia l  bod i ly harm found d ue to i nj u ry from a b ite when pain wou ld have been 

experienced at the t ime of i nj u ry ,  and bru is ing  wou ld have lasted from 7 to 1 4  

days) ; State v .  Ashcraft, 7 1  Wn . App 444 , 455 ,  859 P .2d 60 ( 1 993) (substantia l  

d isfig u rement found when bru ise marks were consistent with being h it with a shoe) ; 

State v. McKague ,  1 72 Wn .2d 802 , 806,  262 P . 3d 1 225 (20 1 1 )  (substant ia l  bod i ly 

harm when assau lt resu lted i n  facia l  b ru is ing and swe l l i ng  lasti ng severa l days with 

lacerat ions to face , back of head , and arm) . Schmidt's i nj u ries i nc luded bru ises 

and contus ions cons istent with Schm idt havi ng been held down . There was 

sufficient evidence of second deg ree assau lt .  

I I  

S ims argues the court reached i nconsistent conc lus ions by acqu itt ing h im 

of rape but convict ing h im of assau lt .  Genera l ly ,  S ims argues the  court's 

conc lus ions are i ncons istent because, he says , the same c i rcumstances lead ing 

to reasonable doubt about rape log ica l ly a lso lead to reasonable doubt about 

assau lt .  We d isag ree . 1 

1 We do not understand S ims to assert that there is an i ncons istency 
between the court's acqu itta l of mu rder and convict ion for assau lt .  Such a c la im 
cou ld not stand . The court acqu itted of mu rder because it found reasonable doubt 
existed as to whether Schm idt's i nj u ries caused her death . Th is does noth ing to 
insu late anyone from crim ina l  l i ab i l ity for caus ing Schm idt's i nj u ries . 
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Sims argues the court recognized an alternate basis for explaining certain 

DNA results when finding reasonable doubt as to rape, but then neglected to 

acknowledge the same doubt about assault. Sims's DNA was found on Schmidt's 

body coinciding in certa in locations with amylase, an enzyme associated with 

saliva. The court explained, "The State asks the Court to conclude that the 

presence of Am[y]lase on portions of Ms. Schmidt's body where Mr. Sims' DNA 

was also found is evidence that the DNA was contained in Mr. Sims' saliva . "  But 

the court continued, "This is not the only reasonable inference from this evidence. 

The uncontroverted testimony presented at trial, from several experts, was that 

Am[y]lase is an enzyme found in the human digestive system ,  including in saliva . "  

There was evidence that Schmidt had vomited, which could explain the presence 

of amylase. Likewise, the court noted, "if Ms. Schmidt and Mr. Sims shared 

cocaine [by taking 'bumps' off each others' hands], especially once he returned to 

her house, this would provide an alternate explanation for Am[y]lase on her hands 

and wrist." But the court went no further than to say the evidence was inconclusive 

about whether Sims's saliva was the source of the amylase found on Schmidt's 

body, which tended to undermine the State's theory of rape. Contrary to Sims's 

implication, doubt about whether Sims's saliva was the source of these particu lar 

DNA findings does not mandate a finding of reasonable doubt that Sims could have 

assaulted Schmidt. 

Sims argues the court found the absence of certain injuries supportive of 

reasonable doubt about rape, and he says this compels a l ike conclusion about 
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assault. This discussion begins with DNA results that, unl ike those d iscussed 

above, were not inconclusive. Sims's DNA was "under Ms. Schmidt's fingernails 

and on her wrist," as well as "on Ms. Schmidt's neck." The court did not view these 

findings as proving assault by themselves, but found they were "consistent" with 

Sims holding Schmidt down, restra ining her by the neck, and Schmidt fighting 

defensively. The court further relied on Dr. Mazrim's testimony that established 

"Ms. Schmidt's injuries were consistent with the perpetrator holding Ms. Schmidt 

face-down on the floor with enough strongly applied force to cause bruising along 

the surfaces of her body that contacted the floor." But the court doubted that Sims 

inflicted these injuries while committing a sexual assault, stating that if he had done 

so he may have inflicted greater injury to other parts of Schmidt's body: "Ms. 

Schmidt had no discernible injuries to the back side of her body. If a perpetrator 

was holding her down while thrusting or attempting to thrust into her, one might 

expect to see abrasions or other injuries to her back, buttocks or legs. Again ,  while 

the absence of this evidence is not dispositive, it is relevant." 

There is no inconsistency. The court viewed the evidence as indicating 

Sims forcibly restra ined Schmidt against the floor. That there were potentially 

innocent explanations of Sims's DNA being found on Schmidt's neck and wrist 

does not mandate doubt that he forcibly restra ined her. The court did not point to 

any DNA findings as conclusive, but described them only as "consistent" with an 

assault evidenced independently by other circumstances. The DNA findings were 

probative, because they did not rule out an assault causing injuries l ike those that 
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were found ,  and because they cou ld reasonably be caused by such an assau lt .  

S imi larly, the court's view that Sims m ight have caused add itional trauma if he had 

infl icted Schmidt's inju ries during a sexual assau lt is not inconsistent with a 

conclusion he caused those injuries independent of a sexual assau lt .  And ,  as 

described above, there was sufficient evidence support ing the conclusion that 

Sims caused Schmidt's injuries. 

Because the court's conclusions are not inconsistent, it is not necessary to 

ana lyze the level of scrutiny Washington would apply to incons istent conclusions 

fol lowing a bench trial in a criminal  case . 

Affi rmed . 

WE CONCUR: 

A J. 
�� , 

.. 
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	Mr. Marshall went downstairs to tell Ms. Schmidt the news. 9/16 RP 169. Through the open bedroom door, he saw Ms. Schmidt lying on her back on the floor. 9/16 RP 169. Her skin was cool. 9/16 RP 170. Mr. Marshall called 911. 9/16 RP 171.
	First responders arrived at 11 am. 9/27 RP 726. Ms. Schmidt was on the floor wearing only a bra. 9/23 RP 609. Her underwear and sweatpants were on the bed. 9/23 RP 638, 643. She had vomit on her face. 9/27 RP 766. She could not be revived. 9/27 RP 729.
	Brian Mazrim, MD, of the King County Medical Examiner’s Office went to Ms. Schmidt’s residence. 9/27 RP 744, 753. Based on the temperature of her body, Dr. Mazrim estimated the time of death as “9.00 a.m., give or take a couple hours.” 9/27 RP 758. Ba...
	Dr. Mazrim performed an autopsy on May 4. 9/27 RP 769; Ex. 41 at 2. He found symmetrical bruises on Ms. Schmidt’s hips, and bruises and abrasions on her knees and the tops of her feet. 9/27 RP 767; Ex. 41 at 3. There were “very small” abrasions at th...
	Based on a microscopic examination, Dr. Mazrim found Ms. Schmidt obtained the bruises on her lower extremities within an hour of death. 9/27 RP 768, 770. He did not examine the other injuries microscopically. 9/27 RP 768. He could place the scalp and ...
	Toxicology tests detected cocaine, Sertraline, and a sleep aid drug in Ms. Schmidt’s blood and stomach contents. 9/27 RP 754, 779–80, 782–83. The amounts of Sertraline and cocaine were both potentially lethal. 9/27 RP 781; 9/30 RP 1026–27; 10/12 RP 18...
	Dr. Mazrim and his team took clippings from Ms. Schmidt’s fingernails and swabs from various parts of her body and sent them for testing. 9/27 RP 788–90.
	Dr. Mazrim ruled the cause of Ms. Schmidt’s death “undetermined” because the autopsy findings did not allow him to choose between “two competing diagnoses.” 9/27 RP 754, 787; Ex. 41 at 1. First, though the injuries were not fatal, they suggested asphy...
	The bruises on Ms. Schmidt’s hips and legs led Dr. Mazrim to consider asphyxia. 9/27 RP 755. A possible explanation was that a person pressed on her backside as she lay face down on a hard surface. 9/27 RP 755, 767. Dr. Mazrim also considered the inju...
	The chief medical examiner, Dr. Richard Harruff, concurred with Dr. Mazrim’s opinion. 9/29 RP 859; 10/12 RP 1874, 1904.
	On May 2, 2015, Mr. Turner told Mr. Sims that Ms. Schmidt was found dead. 9/20 RP 249–50; 10/13 RP 2046–47. Mr. Sims met Mr. Turner and Ms. Dixon at the police station, where all three gave statements. 9/20 RP 251–52; 10/13 RP 2049–50. Mr. Turner and ...
	At Detective Cooper’s request, Mr. Sims provided a sample of his DNA. 10/5 RP 1385.
	When police first arrived on May 2, Mr. Arrahim told them he heard Ms. Schmidt on the stairs at 9:30. 10/6 RP 1447–48, 1450. Detective Cooper did not think Mr. Arrahim’s account was “good enough evidence” and did not interview Mr. Arrahim. 10/6 RP 144...
	Kari O’Neill, a forensic scientist, tested the samples Dr. Mazrim took from Ms. Schmidt. 9/29 RP 910. She found amylase, a digestive enzyme in saliva and other fluids, in the swabs from the neck, left and right wrists, left and right nail clippings, a...
	In swabs from Ms. Schmidt’s neck and right hand, Ms. O’Neill found DNA from three people. 9/29 RP 919–20, 929, 938, 940, 944; Ex. 99. She identified two as Ms. Schmidt and Mr. Sims. 9/29 RP 920, 925; Ex. 100. The DNA quantity was too low to identify t...
	After the lab results came in, Detective Cooper believed there was insufficient evidence to continue the investigation. 10/5 RP 1396.
	Nevertheless, the prosecution charged Mr. Sims with two counts: second-degree felony murder based on a predicate felony of second-degree assault, and second-degree rape. CP 1, 9–10.
	Mr. Sims waived his right to trial by jury. CP 160. The prosecution’s theory was that Mr. Sims assaulted Ms. Schmidt by shoving large amounts of cocaine, Sertraline, and sleep aid pills into her mouth and forcing her to swallow them. 10/18 RP 2220. It...
	The prosecution asked the court to consider attempted second-degree rape as a lesser included offense. 10/18 RP 2246. The court also indicated it would consider second-degree assault as a lesser included offense of murder. 10/18 RP 2248.
	The trial court found Mr. Sims not guilty of second-degree rape and attempted rape. 10/21 RP 527; CP 216 CL 10, 12. It found a reasonable doubt about whether Mr. Sims and Ms. Schmidt had intercourse and, even if they did, whether any intercourse was c...
	The trial court also found Mr. Sims not guilty of second-degree murder, reasoning the evidence suggested Ms. Schmidt may have intentionally overdosed. 10/21 RP 524; CP 209–12 FF 41–44, CP 214 CL 1–2. The court noted that Ms. Schmidt’s recent treatment...
	The court also noted deficiencies in the police investigation as a basis for reasonable doubt. CP 207–09 FF 38, 40.
	However, the trial court convicted Mr. Sims of second-degree assault. 10/21 RP 526–27; CP 197 FF 5, 214–15 CL 4–6, 216 CL 8. Despite finding reasonable doubt regarding the prosecution’s interpretation of the forensic evidence as to the rape count, it ...
	Ms. Sims moved to arrest the judgment. CP 454. His attorney argued the trial court’s reasons to doubt the prosecution’s interpretation of the forensic evidence also created reasonable doubt as to second-degree assault, making the conviction “unjust.” ...
	E. ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED
	1. The trial court erred by entering inconsistent guilty and not-guilty verdicts following a bench trial.
	2. The prosecution did not prove Mr. Sims guilty of second-degree assault beyond a reasonable doubt.

	F. CONCLUSION

	Opinion

	PROOF OF SERVICE supreme PFR-KING
	DECLARATION OF FILING AND MAILING  OR DELIVERY
	The undersigned certifies under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that on the below date, the original document Petition for Review to the Supreme Court to which this declaration is affixed/attached, was filed in the Court o...
	respondent Ian Ith, DPA
	petitioner
	Attorney for other party


